IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2000 DCA NO. 3D00-420

CAROLINE WEISS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of JACK J. WEISS, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LOWRY BARFIELD, ESQ. JOHN A. MOORE, ESQ. LARSON KING LLP 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Suite 3150 Miami, FL 33131-9003 Telephone: (305) 373-5000 MARC COOPER, ESQ. *Counsel of Record* COLSON HICKS EIDSON 255 Aragon Avenue Second Floor Coral Gables, FL 33134 Telephone: (305) 476-7400 Counsel for Petitioner

<i>Zisook v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.</i> , 440 So.2d 452 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) 47
Other Authorities
3 Couch on Insurance 3d § 40.3 (1997) 34
4 J. Appleman, Insurance § 2341 (1968 Supp.) 33
Fla.Stat. § 627.727 passim
Fla.Stat. § 90.803 45
Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.480
Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS^{1/}

Introduction. When Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. ["Liberty"] solicited the insurance business of Continental Properties, Inc., a family business owned by Jack and Caroline Weiss, Caroline, who handled the company's insurance affairs, insisted that she and Jack be individually named in the company's auto policies and that they be provided with full uninsured motorist ["UM"] coverage. The proposal submitted by Liberty's agent indicated that UM coverage would be provided, without limitation. The proposals sent in the following years did the same. The confusing, 81-page policy Liberty issued appeared to provide UM coverage on its face, and named Jack and Caroline as insureds in an endorsement. Nevertheless, when Jack was killed by an uninsured motorist, Liberty denied coverage.

A non-jury trial was held on coverage. During that trial, Liberty's own witnesses testified that the key provisions of Liberty's policy were ambiguous. In light of those admissions, and the policy language on which they were based, the trial court determined that Jack was an insured under Liberty's auto policy and umbrella

^{1/} "R" refers to the record on appeal. "T1" refers to the trial transcript from the coverage trial, which appears in the record at R. 1067-2023. "T2" refers to the separately numbered trial transcript of the stacking and damages trial. For the Court's convenience, Liberty's auto policy is included in an appendix attached to this brief, together with the Third District's opinion. "A" refers to that appendix.

policy with respect to UM coverage.^{2/}

Liberty appealed. Plaintiff cross-appealed. The Third District reversed. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co. v. Weiss, 790 So.2d 475 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). It ignored the fact that because Jack was named in the policy, he was a Class One insured under Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), entitled to UM coverage as a matter of law. It ignored the testimony of Liberty's own witnesses as to the policy's ambiguities, and strictly construed the policy to preclude UM coverage. Because it determined that Liberty provided no UM coverage to Jack, it did not reach the stacking or other issues involved in the appeal and cross-appeal.

This Court accepted jurisdiction to review conflict between the Third District's decision, *Mullis* and *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. McDonald*, 525 So.2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), which applied *Mullis* to a policy like the one here.

The accident. Jack Weiss was a prominent workers' compensation attorney. On February 21, 1995, Jack, his wife Caroline, their daughter Adeena, and a Spanish lawyer and business associate, Mr. Mena, left Jack's office and drove to a restaurant

^{2/} In a later jury trial, the jury determined that the uninsured motorist was negligent, that Jack was 30% comparatively negligent and substantial damages were awarded. The jury also determined that Plaintiff had rejected stacking under Liberty's auto policy and had rejected all UM coverage under Liberty's umbrella policy. (T2. 1500-01). The trial court subsequently granted a directed verdict in favor of Weiss on the stacking issue, finding that Liberty did not prove that it had met the statutory requirements for offering non-stacked coverage. (R. 1060-61).

for dinner. (T2. 203, 827-28). Jack and Mr. Mena had been discussing both the sale of Royal Trust Towers, an office building indirectly owned by Jack and Caroline, to a client of Mr. Mena and also a business association between Jack's and Mr. Mena's law offices. (T1. 373-375, 418). The discussions were to be continued over dinner. (T1. 376). Jack was struck and killed by a speeding uninsured motorist while crossing the street to go to the restaurant. (T2. 834). As detailed below, the fact that this accident occurred while Jack was engaged in the business of Royal Trust Towers has an important bearing on the issue of insurance coverage.

Uninsured Motorist Coverage - the first trial. Jack and Caroline were the owners of Royal Trust Towers Ltd., which owned the office building where Jack's law office was located. They were also owners, officers and directors of Intercontinental Properties, Inc., which managed the building. Caroline ran Intercontinental Properties. (T1. 342-43, 356).

In 1992, a Liberty agent/employee, Alex Perez, solicited Intercontinental's insurance business. (T1. 120-21). Perez eventually spoke to Caroline about property and auto coverage. (T1. 350-51). Caroline told Perez that she wanted \$1 million in coverage on each car, including UM coverage. She also wanted an umbrella policy with a minimum of \$2 million coverage. (T1. 351). Caroline specifically requested that Liberty name her and Jack in the policy. (T1. 352).

Q: So the record is clear, did you specifically instruct Mr.

Perez that both you and your husband were to be individually insured in these policies?

- A: I wanted to make sure that we are insured into it [sic], and that we would have either our name on the policy or we would have endorsements.
- (T1. 353). She also requested UM coverage for herself and Jack:
 - Q: Did you give Mr. Perez any instructions as to whether you and Mr. Weiss would be or should be individually insured for uninsured, underinsured motorist coverage?
 - A: Yes, of course. That was a big criteria with Jack, since his practice was personal injury practice. And he says these catastrophes happen all the time and he wanted to make sure we had uninsured, underinsured, we had the proper coverage and umbrella, the stacking of all of the cars. And all of that instructions was given to Alex Perez.
 - Q: And based on your discussions with Mr. Perez, was it your understanding that you and your husband had uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage pursuant to the business auto policy?
 - A: Yes.

(T1. 354-55). Perez admitted that he had conversations with Caroline but had no recollection as to the substance of those conversations. (T1. 173).

Perez sent a proposal to Intercontinental detailing the coverages provided and the premiums charged. The proposal had to be revised because it did not include the cars driven by Jack, Caroline or their daughters. Another Liberty agent, James Fiet, prepared and sent a revised proposal. (T1. 178-79; T1.Pl.Ex. 8). The proposal listed "automobile liability" and "uninsured motorist" coverage with limits of \$1,000,000. It listed "Drive Other Car Coverage" ("DOC"). None of these provisions had any limitation. None indicated that Liberty was not providing Jack or Caroline the requested UM coverage. Significantly, Fiet admitted that if he intended a limitation on full coverage, he would have listed that limitation in the proposal. (T1. 518). Both he and Perez acknowledged that the proposal listed no limitations on the UM or DOC coverage. (T1. 231, 237-38, 241-42, 518).

Liberty issued the policy in 1992 and renewed it in 1993 and 1994. The 1993 and 1994 proposals were identical to the 1992 proposal; they did not indicate any limitation on UM coverage or that the DOC coverage did not include UM. (T1. Pl.Ex. 7-10). In 1993, Caroline wrote Perez and requested that the endorsements in favor of Jack and Caroline remain in full force and effect. (T1. 325-26, 369; T1. Pl.Ex. 12). Perez assured Caroline the policy covered her and Jack. (T1. 366-70).

The policy issued pursuant to the 1994 proposal was in effect on February 21, 1995, when Jack was killed. (T1. Pl.Ex. 1). Liberty charged over \$13,000 for auto coverage, including UM coverage, on seven vehicles, for that policy. (T1. 130, T1. Pl.Ex. 1). The seven vehicles included all the personal vehicles owned by Jack, Caroline and their daughters. (T1. 130, 196, 201, 351, 366; T2. 787). No other insurance policy covered those personal vehicles. (T2. 782).

The Liberty policy, including the DOC endorsement, make Jack a Class

One Insured. As detailed in the argument below, Class One insureds are entitled to UM coverage as a matter of law. Class One insureds are those who are named in the policy and are insured for liability whether or not they are occupying a vehicle covered under the policy. Under the Liberty policy, Jack was a Class One insured – he was insured for liability whether or not occupying a covered vehicle. He was therefore entitled to UM coverage as a matter of law.

The general provisions of the Liberty policy, found in the Business Auto Coverage Form, provide liability coverage to all permissive users of the vehicles covered by the policy. (A. 76). Thus, these provisions provide liability coverage to Jack while operating one of the covered vehicles.

The DOC endorsement to the Liberty policy expands on this coverage. The endorsement lists "Jack J. & Caroline Weiss" as named insureds. The endorsement provided liability coverage to Jack while operating vehicles not insured under the policy. Thus, the DOC endorsement provided:

B. CHANGES IN LIABILITY COVERAGE

- 1. Any auto you don't own, hire or borrow is a covered auto for LIABILITY COVERAGE while being used by any individual named in the Schedule or by his or her spouse while a resident of the same household
- 2. The following is added to WHO IS AN INSURED: Any individual named in the Schedule and his or her spouse, while a resident of the same household, are insureds while using any covered auto described in

paragraph B.1 of this endorsement.

Thus, the Liberty policy insured Jack whether or not he was occupying a covered vehicle. He was a Class One insured under that policy.^{3/}

Ambiguity in the DOC endorsement. Even if Jack was not a Class One insured entitled to UM coverage as a matter of law, he was nevertheless entitled to UM coverage because the DOC endorsement provided UM coverage. Alternatively, the DOC endorsement was ambiguous as to whether the it provided UM coverage.

The DOC form was a standard preprinted ISO form consisting of two pages to which Liberty attached a nonstandard third page. (A. 47-49). On the first page, underneath the heading "Schedule," is a table consisting of two rows. In the first row, there are three headings: "Name of Individual," "Liability," and "Auto Medical Payments." Under "Name of Individual," there is a box to enter the names of the people being insured. Under "Liability" and "Auto Medical Payments" there are boxes to enter the limits and the premiums for those coverages.

In the second row, there are four headings: "Name of Individual," "Uninsured Motorists," "Underinsured Motorists," and "Physical Damage." Again, under

^{3/} Liberty did not dispute that the DOC endorsement provided coverage to Jack. As Liberty stated in its brief to the Third District: "While JACK WEISS was a named insured on the Drive Other Car Endorsement, that endorsement only provided coverage for bodily injury and property damage, and did not modify the definition of who is an insured for uninsured motorist coverage." Initial Brief of Appellant, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company at 7.

"Name of Individual" there is a box to enter the names of the people being insured. Under "Uninsured Motorists" and "Underinsured Motorists" there are boxes to enter the limits and premiums for those coverages, and under "Physical Damage" there is a box to enter its relevant coverage information.

Under "Name of Individual" in both the first row (which includes liability coverage) and the second row (which includes UM coverage) are the words "SEE ATTACHED SCHEDULE." The attached third page, which is not part of the preprinted form, lists "Jack J. and Caroline Weiss" under the heading "Name of Individual." (A. 49).

All of the other boxes on the first page, including the boxes for "Uninsured Motorists" and "Underinsured Motorists," are blank. The DOC form specifically states what to do when the boxes are blank. The bottom of the form states: **"If no entry appears above, information required to complete this endorsement will be shown in the Declarations as applicable to this endorsement."** The "Declarations" are found in the appendix at (A. 5-11). The first page of the Declarations shows that UM coverage is being provided and that a premium is charged for that coverage. (A. 5). Other pages of the Declarations state that \$1,000,000 in UM coverage is provided. (A. 10-11).

Liberty could not explain why, if liability coverage was the only coverage

offered, it failed to list it in the box on Page 1 of the DOC form. Or, if UM coverage was not part of the DOC endorsement, why the insured was told to see the "Attached Schedule" for the names of the individuals covered for UM. Indeed, Liberty's own underwriting manager, with 20 years experience at Liberty, admitted the form was both confusing and ambiguous:

- Q. Do you know why it says, "See attached schedule" on the first page under the block next to uninsured motorist if liability is all that is being provided?
- A. No, I cannot answer that.
- Q. Do you find that to be confusing?
- A. <u>It is just not evident here what the intent was</u>.

* * *

- Q. So if you look at it you cannot tell what the intent was?
- A. That is correct.
- Q. Does that make it ambiguous to you?
- A. <u>If I cannot discern the intent it would be construed as ambiguous</u>.

(T1. 318-19).

The second page of the DOC form states in Paragraph A: "This endorsement changes only those coverages where a premium is shown <u>in the Schedule</u>." (A. 48). As previously noted, only the first page of the DOC form is labeled "Schedule";

Liberty left all the coverage and premium boxes on that schedule blank; page one of the DOC form tells the insured to look to the Declarations Page if there is a blank; and the Declarations Page shows that a premium was paid for UM coverage. (A. 5).

The third page of the DOC endorsement, on which Liberty's argument relies, does not contain the word "schedule." Nothing on the first two pages of the endorsement tells the insured to look to this third page to determine whether the endorsement provides UM coverage. This third page has a table listing coverages "BI/PD," "Auto Med. Pay," horizontally. The coverages are "Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists," "Physical Damage." (A. 49). The number "52" appears under "BI/PD." Liberty equates the BI/PD coverage with the "Liability" coverage mentioned on the first page of the endorsement; it therefore concludes that the endorsement only provides liability coverage. Nothing in the policy, however, explains to the insured what "BI/PD" means. And, as previously noted, nothing tells the insured to look at this page, rather than the "Schedule of Coverage" in the Declarations, to determine whether the policy provides coverage.

UM coverage for Jack as "agent for Royal Trust Towers." Even if Jack was not entitled to UM coverage under the DOC endorsement, Jack was still entitled to UM coverage under Liberty's policy. Liberty's policy had a specific endorsement providing UM coverage to various categories of persons, including those named as insureds in the policy. (A. 66). The policy listed the named insureds the following:

Intercontinental Properties, Inc., Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd.

Although there was room for "Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd." to appear on the same line as "Intercontinental Properties, Inc.," it was placed on a separate line.

At trial Liberty claimed that there was only one named insured, Intercontinental Properties. It claimed the second line was descriptive of the first, i.e., that the word "as" should be inserted in the second line so it read "as Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd." Liberty could not explain what was added to or subtracted from Intercontinental's coverage if "Agent for Royal Trust Towers" was merely descriptive. Plaintiff argued that Jack was a named insured because he was an "Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd." and was acting as such at the time of his death. At the very least, the clause was ambiguous. It did not clearly show whether "Agent for Royal Trust Towers" was descriptive of "Intercontinental Properties, Inc.," or whether it identified a second group of named insureds. (T1. 582-84).^{2/}

Significantly, Liberty's own employees testified that by using the term "Agent for" there were <u>two</u> insureds, not one. Intercontinental Properties was one; the second was "Agent for Royal Trust Towers." William Stoddard, Liberty's senior

^{2/} The Liberty umbrella policy had a semi-colon instead of a comma between "Intercontinental Properties, Inc." and "Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd." Liberty could not explain why a semi-colon was used if the two names were really one. (T1. 98, 321-22, 324).

manager assigned to Plaintiff's claim, testified:

- Q: My first question is Intercontinental Properties, Inc. is one named insured. Is that correct?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And then there is a second named insured, Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd. Is that correct?
- A: <u>Yes</u>.

(T1. 99). See also (T1. 100-01)(same). In addition, Alex Perez, the Liberty agent who sold the policy, repeatedly testified in his deposition, read during trial, that there were two named insureds:

- Q. Who made that decision that you were writing the insurance for the agent rather than the principal?
- A. I'm sorry, <u>I'm writing the insurance for both Intercontinental</u> <u>Properties, Agent for Royal Trust Towers.</u>
- Q. Both are named insureds?
- A. <u>Both are named insureds on the policy.</u>

(T1. 141-42). See (T1. 139-40, 227-28). Robert Sprague, Liberty's Florida underwriting manager with 25 years experience, testified that he had never seen "agent for" used in a policy. (T1. 311, 314). He admitted that the use of "agent for" made the policy ambiguous. (T1. 316, 324-25).

Liberty nonetheless claimed that it provided no UM coverage for Jack. It argued that despite its use of the term "Agent for Royal Trust Towers" and its

specific listing of Jack as a named insured in the DOC endorsement, its policy was a standard commercial policy which did not afford Jack UM coverage while a pedestrian. The trial court ruled to the contrary (R. 2040):

Jack J. Weiss was a named insured under the Drive Other Car Coverage Endorsement, and as a general partner of Royal Trust Towers, Ltd. was a named insured as an Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd.

The Third District reversed. With respect to the DOC endorsement, the Third District stated: "a 'Drive Other Car' endorsement, providing coverage for bodily injury and property damage, did not modify the definition of who was an insured for UM coverage." 790 So.2d at 477. The Third District failed to recognize, however, that by modifying the definition of who was insured for liability, the DOC endorsement modified, as a matter of law, who was insured for UM coverage. With respect to the language of the policy itself, the Third District stated: "[T]he plain language of the insurance policy requires reversal of the lower court's determination that decedent was a named insured on the business auto policy to 'Intercontinental Properties, Inc., Agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd." 790 So.2d at 477.

In light of its determination of no UM coverage, the Third District did not reach issues raised on appeal and cross-appeal relating to stacking of UM coverage. 790 So.2d at 477. The facts relevant to those issues are presented here in the event this Court exercises its discretion to decide all issues relating to UM coverage. The second trial – stacking of UM coverage. The trial court conducted a second trial before a jury on the issues of negligence of the uninsured motorist, comparative negligence, damages, and on whether the insured rejected stacked UM coverage under the auto policy and all UM coverage under the umbrella policy.

The parties disputed whether there was a signed form in which Plaintiff rejected stacked UM coverage. Liberty relied on a copy which had a check in the box electing non-stacked coverage. But another copy had no such check. Plaintiff argued that none of the copies should be admitted; <u>all</u> were untrustworthy. (T2. 77-79). Liberty argued that all should be admitted; the jury should decide which was authentic. (T2. 81). The trial court refused to exclude any of the copies. (T2. 83).

Plaintiff first asked Liberty to produce the original rejection form in 1995. Plaintiff filed five motions for production and obtained a court order compelling production. (T2. 425; R. 2041-42). Liberty did not comply; it claimed it did not have the original. (R. 2041-42). Nonetheless, in the midst of trial, Liberty suddenly claimed that it found the original. (R. 2041-42; T2. 446). This new-found document had a check mark electing non-stacked coverage.

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