36-5310 DRC/tcl

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2000 DCA No. 3D00-420

CAROLINE WEISS, as Personal)
Representative of the Estate of)
JACK J. WEISS, deceased,)
)
Appellant/Petitioner)
)
vs.)
)
LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE)
COMPANY, a foreign corporation,)
)
Appellee/Respondent)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID R. CASSETTY, ESQ.
FBN 991023
O'CONNOR, CHIMPOULIS, RESTANI,
MARRERO & McALLISTER, P.A.
Attorneys for LIBERTY MUTUAL
2801 Ponce De Leon Boulevard, 9th Floor
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
(305) 445-4090 Phone
(305) 445-7728 Fax

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District does not conflict with this Court's opinion in *Mullis*, or the Fourth District's opinion in *McDonald*, because the Third District's opinion neither addresses class one coverage nor the finding from *McDonald* that UM coverage must be offered in a "Drive Other Car" endorsement. Instead, the Third District's opinion is consistent with this Court's ruling in *Bartoszewicz*, because the LIBERTY policy was issued to a corporation, and did not specifically name Jack Weiss as a named insured.

Even were there a conflict, Jack Weiss would not be entitled to coverage under the policy, because he was not an additional named insured, and he was not covered regardless of what vehicle in which he may be riding; instead, Jack Weiss was covered only when using a vehicle he did not own, hire or borrow, or while within one of the specifically insured vehicles (as were any other passengers in the specifically insured vehicles). Thus, Jack Weiss was a class two insured not entitled to coverage as a pedestrian.

Because Jack Weiss did not purchase UM coverage under the "Drive Other Car" endorsement, he is not entitled to UM coverage as a pedestrian. Moreover,

LIBERTY was not required to obtain a rejection of UM coverage on the endorsement, because it does not insure specifically identified vehicles registered or principally garaged in Florida, and does not provide insurance for family transportation vehicles.

Were the Court to consider the additional issues raised by WEISS, the Court should reverse the trial court's direction of a verdict on stacking based upon LIBERTY's failure to prove at trial that the named insured paid a reduced rate for nonstacked coverage. WEISS never pled nor proved that she paid for stacked coverage, and the evidence submitted post-trial demonstrates that the named insured actually paid substantially less than the 80% normal premium required for non-stacked coverage. Conversely, the Court should affirm the trial court's admission of the uninsured motorist selection/rejection forms, attached hereto in the Appendix, because the documents were authenticated properly and demonstrate that WEISS attempted to perpetrate a fraud on the court by submitting altered photocopies in order to obtain millions of dollars of insurance coverage which the policy did not provide, and for which the named insured had not paid. Finally, the Court should affirm the trial court's denial of the motion for directed verdict on the issue of UM coverage under the umbrella policy, because there is competent, substantial evidence that the named

insured was aware of the availability of UM coverage, including the admissions of WEISS herself.

Should this Court retain jurisdiction, the opinion of the Third District should be affirmed.

PROLOGUE: Jurisdiction was Granted Improvidently

WEISS argues that conflict jurisdiction exists when a decision of a district court applies a rule of law to produce a different result than that in a case which involves substantially the same facts. Petitioner's Brief at 5.5 However, the Third District's statement that the endorsement did not modify the definition of who was a named insured for UM coverage does not apply a rule of law to produce a different result than that from this Court in *Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) or the Fourth District in *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. McDonald*, 525 So.2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), because the Third District did not address the argument on class one insureds which was involved in those two cases.

⁵WEISS relies on *Neilsen v. City of Sarasota*, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960), a case decided under the Court's former certiorari jurisdiction. As of the 1980 amendment eliminating this Court's certiorari jurisdiction, conflict jurisdiction must be apparent within the four corners of the opinion, and cannot be established by "implied" or "inherent" conflict. *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

As previously stated, the conflict must be contained within the text of the opinions. Reaves, 485 So. 2d at 830. Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction where the cases alleged to conflict are distinguishable on their facts. See, e.g., Curry v. State, 682 So.2d 1091, 1092 (Fla. 1996) (dismissing review as improvidently granted where cases purportedly in conflict addressed different propositions of law). The present case involves two critically distinct facts from *Mullis*: first, *Mullis* involved a resident family member of the named insured, the son of the named insured, whereas the present case involves a corporate named insured for which there can be no class one insureds; secondly, the policy in *Mullis* provided liability insurance with respect to a motor vehicle registered or garaged in Florida, thereby triggering the protections of Fla. Stat. § 627.0851, whereas the present case involves an attempt to impose UM coverage on an endorsement which provides liability coverage for unidentified vehicles, thereby falling outside the parameters of Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1). Rather than conflicting with *Mullis*, the Third District follows this Court's opinion in *Travelers Ins*. Co. v. Bartoszewicz, 404 So.2d 1053, 1055 (Fla. 1981). Weiss, 790 So.2d at 476-77. Like the former statute, § 627.727(1) provides that UM coverage must be

offered on policies which provide liability coverage for specifically identified

automobiles registered or garaged in Florida. The "Drive Other Car" endorsement on which WEISS relied in the District Court does not provide liability coverage for any specifically identified automobile, but rather only for unidentified automobiles which are not owned, hired or borrowed. WEISS' statements (in the Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief at 5, 7 and 9) that the endorsement provides liability coverage "regardless of the vehicle [Jack Weiss] was occupying" are inaccurate, as the endorsement provides coverage only where Jack Weiss was in a vehicle that the insured did not own, hire or borrow. Thus, there is no conflict with *Mullis*.

Neither does this case conflict with *McDonald*. In *McDonald*, the named insured purchased UM coverage under a comprehensive insurance package policy, which policy included liability coverage for non-owned autos. *McDonald*, 525 So. 2d at 456. The Fourth District construed § 627.727(1) to apply to this coverage, and found that the named insured did not reject the coverage. *Id.* at 456. In contrast, the Third District found only that the endorsement "did not modify the definition of who was an insured for UM coverage[,]" and does not address the Fourth District's finding that § 627.727(1) applies to an endorsement providing additional coverage to the named insured. Thus, the "decision" by the Third District, that the endorsement does

not modify the definition of who was an insured for purposes of UM coverage, is not in express and direct conflict with the "decision" in *McDonald* that the named insured did not reject UM coverage under its endorsement, precluding conflict jurisdiction.

See, Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 So. 2d 408, 409 (Fla. 1994) (limiting conflict jurisdiction to the actual basis for each decision rendered).

Accordingly, this Court should find that jurisdiction was granted improvidently because the sole issue for jurisdiction was not preserved for review.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Properly Reversed the Denial of Summary Judgment

A. The Court Correctly Determined that the Business Auto Policy Did Not Provide UM Coverage for this Accident

LIBERTY prevailed on appeal, because the business auto policy did not provide uninsured motorist coverage for Jack Weiss except while within a covered auto. *Weiss*, 790 So.2d at 477. WEISS plead that Jack Weiss was covered under the business auto policy as an officer, director or employee of Intercontinental Properties, Inc., agent for Royal Trust Towers, Ltd. R.I-75. The law is well settled that business automobile policies do not cover officers, directors or employees, except when in a covered vehicle. *See, e.g., Travelers Ins. Co. v. Bartoszewicz*, 404 So. 2d 1053, 1054

(Fla. 1981); Lampkin v. National Union Fire Ins. Co., 581 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Pearcy v. Travelers Indemnity Co., 429 So. 2d 1298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), rev. den. 438 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1983); Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Brockman, 524 So. 2d 490, 492-3 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). In Lampkin, the court held that an uninsured motorist policy which listed the corporation as a named insured did not extend coverage to an employee, even though the employee was listed as an operator of the vehicle. Id. 581 So. 2d at 175. Pearcy held that the listing of an employee as operator of a corporation's vehicles on an uninsured motorist policy issued to the corporation does not convert the employee into a named insured. Id., 429 So. 2d at 1298-99. Furthermore, Brockman provided that the sole stockholder and president of a corporation was not a named insured merely because of his office and stock ownership interest. Id., 524 So. 2d at 493.

In the opinion under review, the court explained the economic rationale for such corporate policies, citing *Willingham v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 483 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). *See Liberty Mutual Ins. Co. v. Weiss*, 790 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). In *Willingham*, the court found that it is not unreasonable that parties would declare a corporation the named insured without necessarily meaning to include

employees. Benefits are conferred by naming the corporation alone, because anyone who is injured while occupying a corporation car or who is struck by a corporation car, and who is not required to have their own coverage, will be insured. *See, Id.* at 779. Here, however, the decedent was a pedestrian who was struck by an automobile while jaywalking.

WEISS plead coverage under a legally untenable theory. Accordingly, the lower court properly found that there was an erroneous denial of LIBERTY's motion for summary judgment. *See, generally, Fisher v. Keyes Co.*, 271 So. 2d 787, 788 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). The judgment entered by the lower court must be affirmed.

B. The Lower Court Properly Determined that Jack Weiss is not a Named Insured

WEISS asserts there is UM coverage under LIBERTY's policy for three reasons: (1) Jack Weiss was a Class One insured, (2) he was a named insured under the "Drive Other Car" ("DOC") endorsement, and (3) he was an "agent for Royal Trust Towers" and thereby a named insured.

(1) Jack Weiss was Class Two

WEISS correctly argues that Florida law recognizes a distinction between two classes of insureds: those who are named insureds and are covered regardless of whether they are in a covered vehicle, called class one; and those who are not named insureds and who are covered only when they are in a covered vehicle, called class two. WEISS' brief at pp. 22, 23 quoting *Florida Farm Bureau v. Hurtado*, 587 So.2d 1314, 1318-19 (Fla. 1991). WEISS misapprehends the policy language, with regard to both points.

First, Jack Weiss was not a named insured. Intercontinental Properties, Inc., Agent for Royal Trust Tower, Ltd. is the named insured. Unlike the commercial policy in *American Fire and Cas. Co. v. Sinz*, 487 So.2d 340 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), upon which WEISS relies at p. 25, LIBERTY's policy does **not** include corporate officers as named insureds. *Contrast*, *id.* at 340 *with* WEISS' Appendix at 59, 64, 66, 76. Instead, LIBERTY's policy is like that in *Bartoszewicz*, where the named insured was defined as the person or organization named in the declarations of the policy. *Id.*, 404 So.2d at 1054. Therefore, Jack Weiss could not be a class one insured. *Accord*, *Pearcy v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 429 So.2d 1298, 1298-99 (Fla.

3d DCA), *rev. den.*, 438 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1983)(listing employee as an operator of insured vehicles does not make employee a named insured).

Similarly, WEISS misconstrues the policy as to the second prong, contending that the DOC endorsement "afforded him liability coverage regardless of the vehicle he was occupying." WEISS' Brief at p. 23. In fact, the endorsement only provided him liability coverage in "[a]ny **auto** you don't own, hire or borrow" while being used by a listed individual or their resident spouse. WEISS' Appendix at 48 (emphasis in original). Thus, there are many autos in which the DOC endorsement would not have provided Jack Weiss coverage, including the seven listed vehicles under the policy. Ironically, WEISS seeks to stack the UM limits by seven vehicles insured under the policy, in which vehicles the DOC endorsement would not cover him, while simultaneously arguing that the DOC endorsement made Jack Weiss a class one insured because it covered him regardless of vehicle. Rather than providing coverage

⁶Jack Weiss was covered while in the seven listed vehicles, but not by the DOC endorsement. The UM endorsement provides coverage for anyone occupying a covered auto; thus, Jack Weiss would have been covered if he had been in one of the listed cars when William Perez struck him, but he was not covered as a pedestrian, since he was not a named insured. *See*, WEISS' Appendix at 66.

unlimited as to vehicle, as required for class one status, the endorsement provided limited coverage to Jack Weiss, qualifying him as a class two insured.

Additionally, Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1), on which the Fourth District relied in *McDonald*, does not apply to the DOC endorsement, since the statute addresses only policies issued "with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle." Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1). The endorsement applies only to specifically **un**identified motor vehicles, thereby falling outside of the statute's purview, under its plain language. *Cf.*, *Martin v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 670 So.2d 997, (Fla. 2d DCA), *rev. den.*, 682 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1996). In *Martin*, the court first notes that the policy insuring the antique car undisputedly qualifies as a policy of motor vehicle liability insurance delivered in Florida on a specifically described Florida automobile, thereby meeting the plain language of §627.727(1). *Id.* at 1000. That description undisputedly does not apply to Intercontinental Properties' DOC endorsement.

Martin continues to find §627.727(1) inapplicable to the antique auto policy, notwithstanding the foregoing, because the policy does not insure a family vehicle. *Id.* at 1001. After analyzing the rationale in *Mullis*, which predated no-fault policies, the court found that tying uninsured motorist coverage to financial responsibility coverage

"is no longer a compelling analysis[,]" and found only the concept of class one insurance as "family coverage" to be viable. *Id.* Because the antique car insured by the policy was not for family transportation, the class one concept was inapplicable. *Id.* The same is true with Intercontinental Properties' DOC endorsement, which provided no coverage for family transportation.

Thus, to the extent this Court cares to review the purported conflict between Weiss and McDonald, the plain language of the statute contradicts the Fourth District's holding in McDonald, and cannot provide coverage for Jack Weiss under the endorsement. Moreover, the concept of class one coverage is inapplicable to the endorsement, which only provides coverage in vehicles not owned, hired or borrowed by the insured.

(2) Insured Did Not Purchase UM under DOC

The appellate court correctly determined that the DOC endorsement, providing coverage for bodily injury and property damage, did not modify the definition of who was an insured for uninsured motorist coverage. *Weiss*, 790 So. 2d at 477. WEISS'

⁷WEISS argues that Intercontinental Properties was a family business, and the business auto policy covered their family cars; however, this argument was rejected by this Court in *Bartoszewicz*. *See*, p. 27, *infra*.

argument depends upon a strained, unreasonable reading of the plain language of the contract, which cannot be used to create ambiguity. *See, e.g., United States Fidelity* & *Guaranty Co. v. Romay,* 744 So. 2d 467, 471 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (*en banc*).

The endorsement clearly states, in its initial paragraph: "This endorsement changes only those coverages where a premium is shown in the Schedule." R.II-222; WEISS' Appendix at 48. WEISS argues that the attached schedule marked as page 3 of the endorsement is not a schedule, despite the fact that this third page is the only place where Jack Weiss' name appears, because it was not preprinted by the Insurance Services Office, Inc. WEISS Brief at pp. 27-28. No rule of construction supports this interpretation.

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